Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:	
Yasmine Shakur	07/27/23

Reproductive Health Experiences and Needs of Women of Childbearing Age with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: A Qualitative Study By

Yasmine Shakur MPH

Hubert Department of Global Health

Subasri Narasimhan, PhD, MPH

Committee Chair

S. Sam Lim, MD

Committee Member

Reproductive Health Experiences and Needs of Women of Childbearing Age with Systemic

Lupus Erythematosus: A Qualitative Study

By

Yasmine Shakur Bachelor of Arts University of Central Florida 2019

Thesis Committee Chair: Subasri Narasimhan, PhD, MPH

Committee Co-Chair: S. Sam Lim, MD

An abstract of
A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the
Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of
Master of Public Health
in Global Health
2023

Abstract

Reproductive Health Experiences and Needs of Women of Childbearing Age with Systemic

Lupus Erythematosus: A Qualitative Study

By Yasmine Shakur

Background: Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic autoimmune condition that primarily affects women of childbearing age, with many patients being diagnosed during puberty. Despite existing knowledge, there remains uncertainty regarding the impact of lupus on fertility for patients with lupus.

- The purpose of this thesis was to explore the experiences and needs of minority-identified lupus patients around sexual and reproductive health.
- The secondary objectives were to identify gaps and explore where improvements can be
 made to inform lupus patients on how to manage their reproductive health and therefore
 increase patient-provider trust in their reproductive health.

Methods: Ten minority-identifying women of childbearing age with a physician-confirmed diagnosis of SLE took part in a 30-minute in-depth interview from January 2023- July 2023. Participants were members of the Georgians Organized Against Lupus cohort (GOAL), a population-based cohort derived from the Georgia lupus registry. Thematic analysis was used in MAXQDA Plus 2022 to identify themes related to reproductive health with diagnosis, pregnancy, partnerships, holistic care, career, relationships with physicians, family, and medication side effects, and improvements.

Results: 10 (n=10) Minority women of childbearing age (19-49) with a physician-confirmed diagnosis of SLE took part in a 30-minute in-depth interview from January 2023- July 2023 online over Zoom. The participants in the study had an average age of 32.1 years and ranged in

age from 26 to 44 years old. Importantly, 100% (n=10) of the participants had discussed sexual and reproductive health with a healthcare provider at some point after their lupus diagnosis. Notable themes identified were living with lupus, physician relationships to support sexual and reproductive health, and sexual and reproductive health in relation to lupus.

Conclusions: Most participants were aware of reproductive health prioritization and spoke with providers about concerns that they had about reproductive health. SLE patients expressed that their overall quality of life is affected by their lupus diagnosis. They also changed their reproductive health plans based on their diagnosis. Identified gaps include unexplored emotional and psychological impacts, cultural and social determinants that influence family planning decisions among women with SLE, and social-economic status.

Reproductive Health Experiences and Needs of Women of Childbearing Age with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: A Qualitative Study

By

Yasmine Shakur Bachelor of Arts University of Central Florida 2019

Thesis Committee Chair: Subasri Narasimhan, PhD, MPH

Committee Co-Chair: S. Sam Lim, MD

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Health 2023

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my thesis advisor, Dr. Suba Narasimhan for supporting me through this process and patience through the many obstacles faced during this time. Her insights and feedback have been invaluable in shaping my research and public health career.

I would also like to thank Dr. Sam Lim for his guidance during this time and for presenting me with the opportunity to learn from him and continue my public health career in lupus related research. I would also like to thank Charmayne Dunlop, MPH for providing me with so much support as I navigated this study and providing me with constructive and insightful feedback every step of the way.

I would like to acknowledge and thank the lupus community for allowing me to speak with them on such an intimate level and providing me with such love and support along the way.

And lastly, I would like to thank my family and friends for their unwavering support in all my endeavors. Especially the support of my mother, father, sister, brother, and grandfather, who have always supported my journey.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	
Background:	1
Objectives:	3
Significance:	3
Definition of Terms:	4
Chapter 2: Literature Review	5
Chapter 3: Manuscript	13
Abstract	13
Introduction	13
Methods	16
Results	21
Discussion	29
Chapter 4: Public Health Implications	34
Conclusions	36
References	38
Appendixes	42
Appendix A: In-depth Interview Questions:	42
Appendix B : Code Book	45

Chapter 1: Introduction

Background:

Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic autoimmune condition that primarily affects women of childbearing age, 15 to 44 years old, with many patients being diagnosed around puberty (Kuhn et al., 2015). Lupus presents itself in patients with a wide range of symptoms. These include mild joint and skin involvement to life-threatening renal involvement, hematologic, cardiopulmonary, or central nervous system involvement (Do et al., 2019). Treatment for SLE involves the use of the antimalarial medication hydroxychloroquine which helps to reduce disease damage, maintain symptom remission, and manage the increased cardiovascular risks stemming from the disease (Liu et al., 2020). As a chronic condition, some of these medications are even used during pregnancy, but both SLE treatments and overall symptoms impact pregnancy (Petri et al., 2020). For example, SLE patients are more susceptible to hypertension during pregnancy, leading to flares and complications (Liu et al., 2020). Further, fetal outcomes in pregnancies of people with lupus are negative compared to their non-lupus counterparts, stillbirths occur approximately 5 times more for women who are pregnant with lupus. In addition, fetal growth restrictions are more frequent than in non-lupus pregnancies (Dhar et al., 2006). Planning for healthy pregnancies is complicated by the fact that few laboratory tests can differentiate between a lupus flare and pregnancy complications, and cryopreservation of embryos or ovarian tissues, which could be an option for preserving fertility, is often inaccessible to lack of financial means (Andreoli et al., 2016).

Less research has addressed the influence of lupus on minority women's health. African American women, who have a higher prevalence of SLE and experience more organ damage and comorbidities with lupus, are particularly impacted (Chae et al., 2015). The potential risks and

challenges in raising children if the mother has lupus (Cravioto et al., 2014). These risks include medication-related concerns and the increased risk of learning disabilities, non-righthandedness in males, anxiety, and depression, which are areas of concern for SLE patients that have not been thoroughly studied. The lack of knowledge in these areas affects their life planning and quality of life, and it is often not adequately discussed with patients managing the disease and its flares (Dhar et al., 2006).

In the field of lupus research, there remains a significant gap concerning the exploration of sexual and reproductive health experiences and needs specifically among minority women living with lupus (Lim et al., 2020). Despite the increasing recognition of lupus as a condition that predominantly affects minority women, studies addressing the unique challenges and concerns related to sexual and reproductive health in this population are scarce. As a result, there is limited understanding of how lupus impacts the reproductive and sexual well-being of minority women, and the specific factors that may influence their decisions and choices regarding family planning, contraception, and overall reproductive healthcare (Petri et al., 2020).

Minority women, particularly those of childbearing age, face a distinct set of social, cultural, and healthcare barriers that may intersect with their experiences of living with lupus. These barriers can potentially exacerbate the challenges they encounter in accessing appropriate and timely sexual and reproductive healthcare services (Hoge et al., 2020). Understanding the nuanced interactions between lupus, cultural norms, socioeconomic factors, and healthcare disparities is crucial for providing tailored and comprehensive care to this underserved population (Chae et al., 2015).

By delving into this unexplored area, this research aims to shed light on the intricate interplay between lupus, minority women's experiences, and their sexual and reproductive health

needs. Unraveling these complexities will not only provide valuable insights into the unique challenges faced by minority women with lupus but also lay the foundation for more targeted interventions, improved healthcare practices, and enhanced support systems. Ultimately, empowering minority women with lupus to make informed decisions about their sexual and reproductive health can lead to better health outcomes, improved quality of life, and greater overall well-being for this vulnerable and often marginalized population. Through this study, we endeavor to contribute to the growing body of knowledge in lupus research, while advocating for the comprehensive and equitable healthcare that every individual, regardless of ethnicity or background, deserves.

Objectives:

- The purpose of this thesis was to explore the experiences and needs of minority-identified lupus patients around sexual and reproductive health.
- The secondary objectives were to identify gaps and explore where improvements can be
 made to inform lupus patients on how to manage their reproductive health and therefore
 increase patient-provider trust in their reproductive health.

Significance:

This qualitative study aims to investigate the perspectives of minority women with lupus on the quality of their reproductive healthcare related to lupus. Through qualitative thematic analysis, the research seeks to gain insights into the specific needs and expectations of minority women with lupus when discussing reproductive care with their healthcare providers. The decision to focus on minority women in the research question aligns to shed light on the experiences and challenges faced by this often-underrepresented group in research. By focusing on minority women, we can gain a more comprehensive understanding of how lupus uniquely

impacts different racial, ethnic, and cultural groups, including their reproductive and sexual health experiences (Petri et al., 2020). The information gathered will be utilized to improve health education for both providers and patients, identify gaps in patients' reproductive healthcare knowledge, and empower patients in making informed decisions regarding their sexual and reproductive well-being. This study aims to contribute to better care for lupus patients during their childbearing years, enhancing their overall quality of life.

Definition of Terms:

- Lupus: A chronic autoimmune condition that can damage any part of the body, commonly found among women of childbearing age (ages 15 to 49 years old) (CDC, 2022).
- 2. Sexual and Reproductive health: A state of physical, emotional, mental, and social well-being in relation to sexuality; it is not merely the absence of disease, dysfunction, or infirmity. Sexual health requires a positive and respectful approach to sexuality and sexual relationships, as well as the possibility of having pleasurable and safe sexual experiences, free of coercion, discrimination, and violence. For sexual health to be attained and maintained, the sexual rights of all persons must be respected, protected, and fulfilled (CDC, 2018).
- 3. Relationships: The definition of relationships used for this study are interactions and connections between lupus patients and their healthcare providers.
- 4. SLE: The abbreviation for Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. A autoimmune disease in which the immune system attacks its own tissues, causing widespread inflammation and tissue damage in the affected organs. It may affect the joints, skin, brain, lungs, kidneys, and blood vessels (CDC, 2022).

- 5. Discoid Lupus: A form of cutaneous lupus erythematosus referring to the skin, characterized by round sores, usually on the face and scalp (Cleveland Clinic).
- Childbearing Age: 16-49 years old, the range of ages in which a woman may become pregnant (CDC).

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

The primary purpose of the literature review was to document the existing research on lupus and sexual and reproductive health. We conducted searches on PubMed, PsychINFO, and Web of Science to identify relevant studies focusing on lupus and its impact on pregnancy, reproductive, and sexual health. The inclusion criteria for studies were that the target participants of studies were adults (18 years or older), and cis-gender women. Studies were only included if they were written in English and published within the last ten years. All study types were included due to the low overall number of studies focused on our exact participant profile. Unfortunately, due to a lack of data, only a minority of studies included racial or ethnic minority women or made conclusions for these groups.

These criteria were carefully chosen to align with the characteristics of the women who participated in our research study but also to provide the broadest possible set of information. It is crucial to highlight that we intentionally excluded studies solely involving non-minority women in this review. Out of a total of 78 articles (76 from PubMed, 1 from PsychINFO, and 1 from Web of Science); we identified and selected 11 articles that met our inclusion criteria.

Overall, this literature review serves as a critical foundation for our qualitative study, providing relevant insights from existing research while also identifying gaps in the current literature. Moreover, the review helps to establish the significance and originality of our study,

which further contributes to the body of knowledge in this important area of research. By synthesizing the findings of these selected studies, we can enrich the understanding of lupus and its effects on reproductive and sexual health in minority women. The majority of studies were systematic reviews (n=8). Only one study focused on the use of contraception while ten others examined lupus management and pregnancy planning.

Use of Contraception

One study addressed contraception, specifically, the different forms of contraception SLE patients have used, and the side effects they had. Progesterone-only pills as a form of contraception have been widely accepted as the best option for women with lupus. However, Cravioto et al. (2014) conducted a randomized-control clinical trial involving 162 women with SLE that found that progesterone-only pills were the highest discontinued form of contraception for women with lupus, in comparison to intrauterine devices (IUDs) and combined estrogen-progestin contraception.

This study went on to conclude that oral contraceptives and IUD are acceptable forms of birth control methods for patients with lupus, however counseling and specialized health attention needed to be provided (Cravioto et al., 2014). It is worth noting that while progress has been made in reproductive care for women with lupus, there are still challenges and complexities to address like the challenges that many minority women face and the social determinants that impact the care they receive.

Management of Pregnancy

Ten studies examined the management of pregnancy of women with lupus focusing on pre-pregnancy counseling, medications compatible with lupus and pregnancy and breastfeeding, and antiphospholipid syndrome present in patients with lupus nephritis. Overall, the studies

addressed that pre-pregnancy counseling was needed for the best pregnancy outcomes and that medications can be compatible with pregnancy and no longer cause infertility (Tavakolpour et al, 2016). Currently, the management of pregnancies in women with SLE has shown significant improvements due to advancements in medicine and better management of SLE.

However, studies addressed the risks associated with pregnancies in women with SLE, which is highlighted in a systematic review of 56 studies conducted by Do et al. (2019).

Although advances in medicine have made the management of pregnancy with SLE possible there are still additional risks which include lupus flares, preeclampsia, preterm birth, fetal growth restrictions, neonatal lupus, and maternal disease flares. Preeclampsia remains the most common complication affecting 7.6-25% of all SLE pregnancies. Additionally, there is an increased risk of early spontaneous abortion and fetal death beyond 10 weeks, especially for patients with antiphospholipid antibodies or lupus nephritis (Do et al., 2014). This review concluded that when planning pregnancy disease control (symptom remission) 4-6 months ahead of conceiving is recommended and multiple medications for SLE were tolerable during pregnancy.

To improve the chances of an optimal pregnancy for SLE patients, it is crucial to have disease control before pregnancy and after. This is highlighted in the systematic review of 18 studies conducted by Tavakolpour et al, (2016), The final recommendations of this concluded that autoimmune disease managed both during and after pregnancy was necessary for a healthy pregnancy.

In a systemic review of 126 studies conducted by Nahal et al. (2018), the guidelines and recommendations for a successful pregnancy outcome with lupus were outlined. This highlights the importance of proper multidisciplinary surveillance during pregnancy, ideally starting

evaluation between 4-6 weeks to closely monitor and manage potential complications associated with SLE and pregnancy (Nahal et al., 2018).

Studies examining lupus medications fell into two categories, the effects of hydroxychloroquine on preeclampsia and the use of mycophenolate mofetil. In the retrospective cohort study of 119 women diagnosed with SLE conducted by Liu et al., and colleagues (2021) it was found that hydroxychloroquine (HCQ), a medication commonly used to control disease activity in SLE patients, has been shown to decrease the risk of SLE flares, preterm birth, and neonatal lupus is considered safe for both the mother and fetus, and did not significantly reduce preeclampsia.

As we continue to advance our understanding and management of SLE in the context of reproductive health, it is essential to tailor treatment plans to individual patients and closely monitor their health throughout pregnancy. This is once again highlighted in the systematic review of 31 studies conducted by Petri et al., (2020) on pregnancy and SLE. This study concluded that SLE does not cause infertility, however, cyclophosphamide was the preferred therapy for lupus nephritis in the past which caused about one-third of the exposed women to go into premature ovarian failure. As advancements have been made in the treatment of SLE mycophenolate mofetil, is more commonly used and is the preferred medication and it does not cause infertility (Petri et al., 2020). Although mycophenolate mofetil does not cause infertility, it should not be taken during pregnancy and the preferred medication of immunotherapy for SLE patients is azathioprine, must be started at minimum 3 months before conception of a pregnancy (Petri et al., 2020).

In another area of research regarding lupus patients with varying levels of disease activity during pregnancy, different indications for birth outcomes exist. Teng et al., (2018) studied pre-

pregnancy counseling for patients with systemic lupus erythematosus in a systematic review to guide clinicians to formulate appropriate preventive strategies and patient-tailored monitoring plans during pre-pregnancy counseling of SLE patients. According to Teng's et al., (2018), high disease activity during the first trimester significantly reduces the chances of a live birth (57% vs. 84%) or full-term birth (21% vs. 50%), while significantly increasing the risk of miscarriage (29% vs. 9%). High disease activity in the second and third trimesters is associated with a significantly lower chance of full-term birth (28% vs. 63%), a higher risk of extreme preterm birth (<28 weeks) (18% vs. 5%), and higher perinatal mortality (15% vs. 4%).

A prospective study that was conducted by Ikram (2021) looked at the breastfeeding decision postpartum for women with rheumatic diseases. A total of 265 pregnancies were included in the study,88 were women diagnosed with SLE. Of those diagnosed with SLE, 39 (44%) were black, 6 (7%) were Asian and 2 (2%) were identified as other. White women accounted for 41(47%) of this study. The study concluded that the women with rheumatic diseased can breastfeed and medications were compatible with breastfeeding and included hydroxychloroquine, azathioprine, NSAIDs, prednisone, TNF inhibitors, sulfasalazine, and noncompatible medications.

Santos and colleagues (2017) conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis of 16 studies on antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) and miscarriages in women, the major antiphospholipid antibodies that are found in APS are anticardiolipin antibodies (aCLs), lupus anticoagulant (LA) and anti-β2glycoprotein I antibodies (aβ2GPI). Out of the 830 records identified in PubMed and Web of Sciences, 9 were included in the systematic review and 7 were included in the meta-analysis. The study concluded that there was a connection between APS and miscarriages.

Miscarriages were also examined by the systematic review of 77 studies conducted by Moroni et al. (2018) focused on important considerations in pregnant patients with lupus nephritis which examined pregnancy in women with chronic renal disease. It was concluded that the stabilization of disease remission is the most important factor to have a successful pregnancy, however, ethnicity was not a factor considered in this review.

These findings underscore the importance of managing lupus activity during pregnancy to achieve better birth outcomes. It also highlights the need for individualized care and close monitoring for pregnant women with lupus, particularly during periods of increased disease activity. By understanding these risks, healthcare providers can offer better support and counseling to lupus patients who are considering pregnancy or are already pregnant, ultimately improving maternal and fetal outcomes.

Gaps in Literature

The current literature on the effects of pregnancy and lupus offers valuable clinical insights and highlights the importance of counseling patients with lupus for pregnancy planning. However, there is a notable gap in capturing the perspectives of patients and the crucial questions they have about their reproductive health. Patients' voices and experiences are essential to truly understand their needs and concerns when it comes to managing lupus and their reproductive health.

In addition, the existing literature often neglects to address the significance of sexual health beyond the use of contraception. Sexual health is an integral aspect of overall well-being, and for women with lupus, it can be affected by both the disease itself and the medications they take (Watts et al., 1979). Understanding how lupus impacts sexual health and addressing related concerns should be given more attention in research and healthcare discussions.

The emphasis on pre-pregnancy in the literature can pose challenges for many women with lupus, as most pregnancies are unplanned even when contraception is used (Thaxton et al., 2017). While the protocol suggests controlling disease activity six months before conception, this may not be feasible for all patients due to the unpredictable nature of lupus flares and individual circumstances (Petri et al., 2020). This calls for more research and practical approaches to managing pregnancies in women with lupus who may not have the luxury of extensive preplanning.

Furthermore, there is a lack of education regarding the involvement of specific doctors in multidisciplinary surveillance during pregnancy (Nahal et al., 2018). It is crucial to clearly outline which healthcare professionals should be part of the care team during pregnancy to ensure optimal outcomes for both the mother and the baby. Pre-pregnancy counseling is often highlighted, but the importance of ongoing care during pregnancy must be equally emphasized (Nahal et al., 2018).

Addressing these gaps in the literature and healthcare practice will lead to more comprehensive and patient-centered care for women with lupus. Listening to patients' concerns, providing education on sexual health, and developing flexible pregnancy management strategies can improve the overall well-being and outcomes of women with lupus who are considering or going through pregnancy.

Significance of sexual and reproductive health counseling

Overall, these studies addressed the need to have pre-pregnancy counseling with all patients who have SLE. In the 1960s, the reported loss rate of pregnancies for women with lupus was as high as 43% (Nahal et al., 2018). However, there has been a significant improvement in pregnancy outcomes for women with lupus in more recent years. Between 2000 and 2003, the

pregnancy loss rate decreased to 17% (Nahal et al., 2018). This decline in pregnancy loss rate is a positive development and indicates the progress made in managing pregnancies for women with lupus.

Despite the improved outcomes, pregnancy remains a health concern for women diagnosed with lupus, and healthcare providers need to offer comprehensive contraception counseling to patients of reproductive age (Cravioto et al., 2014). Unfortunately, many women with lupus still engage in unprotected sex or rely on behavior-based contraceptive methods instead of using more reliable forms of birth control (Petri et al., 2020). This highlights the need for better education and awareness about contraception options for women with lupus.

For optimal pregnancy outcomes, it is advised that women with lupus have at least six months of controlled disease activity before conceiving (Cravioto et al., 2014). Proper disease management before conception can help reduce the risk of pregnancy loss and preterm birth.

Additionally, women with antiphospholipid antibodies and active lupus at the time of conception are at an increased risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes (Do et al., 2014). Therefore, close monitoring and proper management are crucial for this group of patients.

Continued research and advances in medical knowledge will further improve the understanding of lupus and its impact on pregnancy. By providing comprehensive counseling on contraception, optimizing disease control before conception, and closely monitoring high-risk pregnancies, healthcare providers can continue to enhance pregnancy outcomes for women with lupus (Cravioto et al., 2014). It is also important to empower women with knowledge and options so that they can make informed decisions about their reproductive health and family planning.

Chapter 3: Manuscript

Abstract

SLE primarily affects minority women of childbearing age. Contraception is often recommended for women who are diagnosed with lupus in order to plan pregnancies when disease activity is low (Kuhn et al., 2015). This study seeks to explore minority-identified lupus patients' experiences and needs around sexual and reproductive health. 10 (n=10) Minority women of childbearing age (19-49) with a physician-confirmed diagnosis of SLE took part in a 30-minute in-depth interview from January 2023- July 2023 online over Zoom. Participants were members of the Georgians Organized Against Lupus cohort (GOAL), a population-based cohort derived from the Georgia lupus registry with over 1,000 individuals. This study identifies common themes among patients when speaking of their reproductive and sexual health, living with lupus, patient-physician relationships, sexual and reproductive health in relation to lupus, and gaps in knowledge. It addresses a gap in the literature on patients' experiences with seeking reproductive healthcare and where they may need more education. It also highlights the need for more research to be done to address how different elements such as physical appearance, physical limitations, socioeconomic factors, and cultural norms. This may affect the personal lives and partnerships of SLE patients, ultimately shaping their experiences with reproductive and sexual health care and limiting the care women with SLE can receive.

Introduction

Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic autoimmune condition that primarily affects women of childbearing age (16-49), with many patients being diagnosed during puberty (Kuhn et al., 2015). The disease manifests with a diverse range of organ symptoms, ranging from mild joint and skin involvement to severe multiorgan involvement that may mimic other

conditions (Do et al., 2019). Thus, making a diagnosis of the condition challenging and disease management complex. While not all SLE patients have exact symptomology or outcomes, the condition profoundly impacts various aspects of a patient's life, including their reproductive and sexual health (Nahal et al., 2018). SLE can impact pregnancy, fetal outcomes, and postpartum care, posing challenges in distinguishing between lupus symptoms and those related to pregnancy, which may potentially result in misdiagnosis (Dhar et al., 2006).

Treatment for SLE involves the antimalarial medication, hydroxychloroquine which helps reduce disease damage, maintain remission, and manage cardiovascular risks, even during pregnancy. Topical glucocorticoids are also used intermittently for skin lesions, while immunosuppressants like mycophenolate mofetil and low-dose intravenous cyclophosphamide are used to control lupus activity and reduce organ involvement (Kuhn et al., 2015).

Contraception is recommended for women of childbearing age with lupus to prevent unplanned pregnancies, especially since certain medications used to control the disease can lead to fetal defects if taken during pregnancy (Petri et al., 2020).

Among minority populations, accessing healthcare and receiving education about reproductive and sexual health can present unique challenges and disparities, particularly in the context of managing SLE while considering family planning. A significant 1994 study called LUpus in MInorities: NAture versus Nurture (LUMINA), led by Dr. Graciela Alarcón, found that healthcare disparities disproportionately affected Hispanic and African American participants with SLE. These disparities were attributed to socioeconomic factors, ancestral genes, diminished survival in poverty, and adverse pregnancy outcomes influenced by socioeconomic factors (Lim et al., 2020).

For minority women with lupus, limited access to healthcare resources and cultural barriers can significantly impact their decision-making process and reproductive choices. To provide equitable and comprehensive care, it is crucial to address the specific needs of minority individuals and ensure they receive adequate information and support regarding family planning and reproductive health (Lim et al., 2020). By addressing these issues, healthcare providers can help improve the overall reproductive health and well-being of minority women with SLE.

Despite existing knowledge, there remains uncertainty regarding the impact of lupus on fertility. While fertility is generally believed not to be affected by lupus, concrete evidence is lacking. Women with lupus who do become pregnant should avoid specific medications, such as Mycophenolic acid, methotrexate, and leflunomide, due to potential harm to the fetus.

Unfortunately, access to contraception can be limited for women with lupus in various countries, leading to serious consequences for both the patients and their children (Andreoli et al., 2016). Unplanned pregnancies in lupus patients can result in adverse fetal outcomes and an increased risk of symptom relapse, adversely affecting the patient's life (Mobini et al., 2021).

Although SLE has a significant impact on sexual and reproductive health, this area remains largely unexplored in research. SLE patients face unique challenges related to their reproductive and sexual well-being, as the disease can complicate pregnancy, increase the risk of adverse fetal outcomes, and pose difficulties in differentiating lupus symptoms from those associated with pregnancy. Consequently, there is a need for comprehensive studies to investigate the specific experiences and needs of minority women with lupus concerning sexual and reproductive health. Understanding these experiences can lead to improved education, communication, and tailored care, ultimately enhancing the quality of life for this vulnerable patient population. This study will explore those individual experiences that minority women

with lupus face and fill critical gaps in the literature. This research can additionally pave the way for more effective support and counseling for lupus patients in making informed decisions about their reproductive health journey.

<u>Methods</u>

<u>Study Design:</u> This study is a cross-sectional qualitative exploratory study.

Recruitment, Sampling and Participants: This study was conducted from January to July 2023 and explored the perspectives of minority women (n=10) aged 19 to 49, who had a formal diagnosis of SLE. Participants were selected from the Georgians Organized Against Lupus (GOAL) CDC-supported database. The GOAL cohort is a population-based lupus cohort of over 1,000 individuals with lupus derived from the Georgia lupus registry (GLR). GLR is 1 of 5 US Centers of Disease Control and Prevention funded population-based lupus registries. The study cohort that includes a diverse population of clinical, biological, sociodemographic, psychosocial, and health service data along with biological material. A list of GOAL study participants was given to Yasmine Shakur (PI). This list focused on minority women diagnosed with SLE, defined in this context as non-white individuals, aged 19 to 49, with a physician confirmed SLE diagnosis (Table 1). This study prioritized minority women due to the higher prevalence of lupus in this population, which has been historically underrepresented in research. Participant race was gathered in the GOAL cohort, our sample included 10 minority women who were diagnosed with lupus by a physician. Although we intended to include Hispanic women in this study, all 4 who were contacted declined to participate. A total of 20 patients were contacted, and 10 agreed to take part in a 30-minute interview. This sample included 8 African-American women and 2

Asian women of childbearing age. All participants are represented by an alias, and saturation was accomplished with this sample size. Each interview took between 20-45 minutes to complete.

In-depth Interview Guide: The in-depth interview guide was designed to comprehensively explore the potential impacts of sexual and reproductive health on various aspects of the participants' lives. The guide consisted of distinct sections, starting with the participants' diagnosis stories, followed by an exploration of the medications they were taking for lupus. Specific conversations related to sexual and reproductive health, such as pregnancy planning, contraception choices, and experiences with sexual activity, were also covered during the interviews. Additionally, the guide delved into the participants' relationships with their healthcare providers and how comfortable they felt discussing these intimate topics with them. By breaking down the interview guide into these key areas, the study aimed to gain a holistic understanding of the participants' perspectives and experiences regarding sexual and reproductive health in the context of living with lupus. The interview questions aimed to gather in-depth insights into participants' experiences with lupus diagnosis, reproductive and sexual health related to lupus, and the social determinants that minority women face in accessing reproductive health care alongside managing the underlying disease of lupus.

<u>Data Collection:</u> A one-time 30-minute interview was conducted over Zoom with each participant. Before the interviews, participants were recruited from the GOAL cohort and invited to take part via telephone calls. Each participant was called a total of 5 times, with 2 voicemails left before being deemed unreachable. Eligibility was determined based on age, gender, and ethnicity, and participants provided oral consent before each interview. The Principal

Investigator (PI), Yasmine Shakur, handled all consent discussions and provided a clear overview of the study's purpose, interview themes, and the participants' right to decline to answer any uncomfortable questions or end the interview at any time. The PI also assured confidentiality, and participants were assigned aliases instead of using their names during the interviews to protect their identities. The demographics questions were patients' ages, year of diagnosis, ethnicity, number of children, and if they spoke about sexual and reproductive health care with their providers.

<u>Data Analysis:</u> After conducting all interviews, the recordings were transcribed verbatim, and a codebook was developed by two readers based on recurring themes in the transcripts. Codes that were identified for thematic analysis were isolation, living with lupus, improvements, and changes, medical side effects and impacts, relationships with family, physicians, romantic partnerships, pregnancy, career, holistic care, and diagnosis and its impacts. The transcripts were coded using MAXQDA plus 2022, and any discrepancies between coders were resolved through discussion to achieve consensus. The audio recordings were securely stored, and the transcripts were password-protected and saved in cloud storage for a recommended retention period of seven years, according to Emory University's data security protocols.

Ethical Considerations: To ensure participant confidentiality, all data were deidentified, and the use of aliases preserved anonymity. The study protocol was reviewed and approved by Emory University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) to assure the ethical conduct of this research. The approval of the IRB guaranteed that the study followed all relevant ethical norms and regulations for human subject research. Participants were informed that they were not obligated to answer

any questions they felt uncomfortable with and could withdraw from the study at any time. The PI conducted CITI training and adhered to Emory University's data security policies. The study was designed with minimal risks for participants, but sensitive topics such as social support were addressed. Participants who expressed difficulty with sensitive topics were provided with the contact information for the Georgia Crisis and Access Line (GCAL) to access mental health support if needed.

Benefits and Dissemination: The study aimed to raise awareness of public health education needs for minority women with lupus regarding their reproductive and sexual health experiences. Participants benefited individually from sharing their experiences and increasing their knowledge of sexual and reproductive health education related to lupus. Compensation of a \$20 Walmart was given to each participant. After the study completion, all participants received a follow-up email with the final draft of the findings. The results were also shared with the GOAL cohort, providing valuable insights to many women in the targeted population.

Demographic Characteristics: The participants in the study had an average age of 32.1 years (Mean 32.1) and ranged in age from 26 to 44 years old. Among the participants, 80% (n=8) identified as African American (AA) and 20% (n=2) as Asian. Regarding the year of diagnosis, none of the participants were diagnosed between 2000 and 2004 (0%), 5 participants were diagnosed between 2005 and 2009 (50%), 4 were diagnosed between 2010 and 2014 (40%), and 1 was diagnosed in 2015 and later (10%). On average, participants had 0.8 children, with a median of 1 child. The number of children ranged from 0 to 2 for all participants. Importantly,

100% (n=10) of the participants had discussed sexual and reproductive health with a healthcare provider at some point after their lupus diagnosis.

Table 1: Characteristics of Participants

Participant:	Age	Ethnicity	Year of diagnosis	Number of Children	Has talked to a health care provider about sexual and reproductive health (y/n)?
Tina	28	AA	2020	0	Y
Dani	36	AA	2005	1	Y
Connie	44	AA	2013	1	Y
Annie	30	AA	2009	2	Y
Margo	26	Asian	2013	0	Y
Corinne	37	AA	2005	1	Y
Sandy	28	AA	2016	2	Y
Eliza	32	AA	2006	1	Y
Jessica	34	AA	2010	0	Y
Jean	26	Asian	2009	0	Y

Results

Four significant themes were identified, including living with lupus, physician relationships, sexual and reproductive health in relation to lupus, and gaps in knowledge expressed by participants.

Living with lupus

Participants shared the effects of their diagnosis, and the life changes they experienced, including impacts on their reproductive and sexual health. Additionally, participants recognized the need to change how they interacted with their friends, family, and doctors over time based on the level of symptoms, which include fatigue, pain, and other physical symptoms, that they felt. For example, most of the participants discussed the importance of advocating for themselves when speaking to physicians, family, and friends. Participants also highlighted the emotional impacts of lupus on their overall life, particularly when dealing with medication side effects or the potential long-term effects on their bodies, although they were unsure about the specific questions to ask.

"The first time where I just I had to cut it (hair) off and you know everybody in my school was like "Oh, my God. Why'd you cut it off?" Because, you know, I had such long hair and stuff and I really wanted to break down and cry to them it's falling out, but I tried to, you know, keep it cool. Like I meant to do it and things like that. But yeah, that was very hard to go through to have to cut all my hair off like that, yeah." - Annie, 30 years old, diagnosed in 2009

The experience of isolation reported by many participants in this study highlights a critical aspect of living with SLE that has significant implications for their overall well-being. Feeling isolated and unsupported can have a profound impact on mental health and may exacerbate the emotional toll of managing a chronic illness like lupus. The need for a strong

support system becomes evident, and this study sheds light on the importance of providing patients with opportunities to connect with others who can empathize with their experiences.

One participant described why they joined a support group and the impact that it made on their overall well-being, especially during their diagnosis journey:

But other things that helped me was like I ended up joining a support group because I was just like, so frustrated and angry because I'm like, I feel like a Guinea pig that people keep just trying stuff on me all the time and I'm like, why can't you just figure this out already, right? – Connie, 44 years old, diagnosed in 2013

Ultimately, patients reported that lupus diagnosis and subsequent management had a profound impact on their overall life quality, extending to sexual and reproductive health.

Patient-physician relationships to support sexual and reproductive health

Most participants expressed a wide range of relationships with their primary physicians. Most participants highlighted that they had rheumatologists and spoke to their rheumatologists only about lupus related symptoms but did not feel comfortable sharing information about their sexual and reproductive health with those providers, for example asking questions about pregnancy and what kinds of contraception would work best for SLE. A minority group explained that they had providers that they felt comfortable asking questions in regard to lupus and reproductive health and they felt that they were able to openly communicate with those providers. Many participants also explained the difficulties entailed with finding a new provider to understand their complex medical background with lupus and would ultimately stay with their provider, even if they did not have a great relationship with them, because of the difficulties they had with transferring medical documentation and updating a new physician on their SLE

diagnosis. Most also highlighted that primary physicians were so focused on management of chronic lupus, that sexual and reproductive health topics came up very infrequently.

Many participants explained that the physician-patient relationship was strengthened by the patient being empowered to ask specific and direct questions during their doctors' appointments. These questions included ones around the possibility of pregnancy and fully expressing that they would like to have a child and how their medications may cause different side effects. However, this process was described as mutual, where physicians should also know what types of questions to ask, such as. One participant described this need, "I think it's more so on the providers end that they're supposed to ask the right questions in order to provide the right treatment and not dissuade people from doing what they would like to do but helping them accomplish that. That's what I think a provider is supposed to do." — Eliza, 32 years old, diagnosed in 2006

Additionally, all participants expressed the need to have a cohesive team of doctors to get the right care needed for them during times of flare-ups and especially during the time of pregnancy. For example, doctors that are all part of the same healthcare system:

"Yeah, that's why I think really having that great, the good group of people and, and especially like in one niche is also important so that they, they know each other. So and so when they talk about me, like they know what's going on and all having, all of them at one place is also important I think. So, I really hate broken healthcare systems." - Jean, 26 years old, diagnosed in 2009

Many participants said that when a cohesive system was in place for patients, they had a better relationship with their doctors and felt more comfortable asking questions, especially ones they deemed as sensitive or private. There was a minority of patients who experienced this,

however, when they did have a whole multidisciplinary team working together, they expressed more gratitude for that care and did not feel that they needed to navigate multiple health systems to get the care they needed.

"They're so supportive. Anytime I have my doctor's number, anytime I'm out of medicine, need anything, I can contact them. I think that's about it." – Sandy, 28 years old, diagnosed in 2016

Most participants expressed varying relationships with their physicians, and this extended to sexual and reproductive health. Consistently participants explained that they were given contraceptive options and told be on contraception by their physicians and wait until they were in a healthy state to conceive. Most participants who spoke about getting pregnant with their physicians often were told they should not be risking their lupus remission for a pregnancy and encountered some push back, even if it was something they were willing to pursue and felt they had stabilized their lupus.

"They were shocked as to why I wanted to get pregnant. Basically, it was just like, why? Like would you want to do that like your kidneys are functioning well, your heart's functioning well. Like, you know, like you have your flares. But like major organ systems aren't involved. Why would you want to? Have a kid like you want to come off medicines like, like they were very shocked and very like, let's not do this. And then I think it added to it the fact that it's like, since I'm not in a heterosexual relationship, I have other options. So, they, they were just kind of like, why would you not choose the other option, which is the safest?" - Eliza, 32 years old, diagnosed in 2006

Sexual and reproductive health in relation to lupus

All participants expressed that sexual and reproductive health was brought up at some point after their lupus diagnosis. However, quality, duration, and focus were not always

standardized. This is in relation to the depth of knowledge that patients had when it came to the importance and impact of it on their health was not something that they fully understood, and there were many gaps in knowledge. The most common discussion participants described was the need for the use of contraception with certain lupus medications. These medications were identified as ones that impact fetal development if a person were to become pregnant. One participant described the medication they took which is typically taken to control SLE activity and can cause birth defects, however, they were unaware of the consequences and after learning of the impacts it could have on a fetus expressed the concerns that they had about taking the medication. As one participant described:

"I was on Cellcept like constantly, I wasn't, you know skipping any days or anything of that sort. So, it was like it was brought to my attention that, that could be harmful and cost, you know, side effects if I were to get pregnant so, I mean, that was a major thing basically because I wasn't using anything to prevent a pregnancy at the time."- Jessica, 34 years old, diagnosed in 2010

Those who did get pregnant expressed that when they did become pregnant it was often difficult to carry the pregnancy, even describing having to end all lupus management and thus having increased flares after giving birth. Most participants who had experienced pregnancy described difficulties they experienced greater flare symptoms that needed extra care after giving birth, although their physicians did not contribute these issues to pregnancy. Three participants described having suffered miscarriage or stillbirth of their pregnancies, which affected their future decision on having children, all of these participants expressed it was unclear if this was due to lupus or other contributing factors and were frustrated when they were unable to get answers. A participant described the frustrating and emotionally taxing situation trying to figure

out what caused a stillbirth, attributing the outcome to the need for regular injections to manage their lupus.

"I also had a stillborn not too long ago and they want to say it was because of a clot, possibly.

And I know when I ended up having my son they were giving me these injections. Well, I had to give myself these injections. I guess just the keep the blood thin or something of that nature.

And I mean luckily it worked, but I wish I would have figured, figured out."- Annie, 30 years old, diagnosed in 2009

Although the topics of contraception use and management of pregnancy were more common, only a minority of participants described any kind of discussion of relationships or sexual functioning. Some described that lupus sometimes impacted the way they felt about and interacted with the interacted partners due to limitations from overall lupus or during flares. Commonly participants expressed that if they are going through a flare and need to take extra time to rest, they experience feelings of isolation. They also expressed that due to physical changes, they were making changes to their social lives to accommodate for those changes in order to not draw attention to those physical changes.

"I developed a real self-conscious being with all the surgeries or the tubes or and things like that. I was with my child's father for some time" – Corinne, 37 years old, diagnosed in 2005 Sandy a 28-year-old participant that was diagnosed in 2016 explained,

"At first, I was really like in my shell. You know, once my skin started to change, you know, it was like a new me at first."

It also has changed the way they have interacted with their partners when it comes to the emphasis on contraception their physicians have had on them. For example, a participant expressed the struggles they had with balancing relationships and their health:

"There's some restrictions and rules I need to follow, and that makes it really difficult. And like I kind of need to focus on taking care of myself I can't really be worried about somebody else right now" – Margo, 26 years old, diagnosed in 2013

Another expressed the difficulties they had with telling their partner that they had a chronic condition.

"When I first met my partner, I did not tell him I had lupus. But when we got to the point where we were going to become intimate, I felt like I needed to tell him because things that I was going to ask or do with I probably, you know, would be because of my lupus. So, I was like, OK. And I told him also, because I think he thought I was pushing him away or I wasn't attracted to him.

And it wasn't that I wasn't attracted. It was like I don't know how to start this conversation [about lupus impacts]. You know." — Connie, 44 years old, diagnosed in 2013

Moreover, participants commonly expressed how their reproductive health plans evolved after being diagnosed with lupus. They were concerned about avoiding potential flares or uncertain outcomes if they were to become pregnant. There was confusion surrounding the possibility of getting pregnant with lupus and its implications on their lives after giving birth. For instance, many participants mentioned the changes they made in their reproductive health plans after their lupus diagnosis. This included speaking with their providers, both rheumatology, gynecologist, and other specialties about surrogacy and other options, speaking with family members who have lupus, and seeking out information on the internet when they were unable to

get the questions answered after speaking with their physicians. One participant who already had a child abandoned plans to have another without consulting a doctor:

"I think I would have considered it, having another child. I mean it may. I definitely, would have considered it, but afterwards [after the lupus diagnosis] it was just like I don't want my body to go through what it went through before." – Connie, 44 years old, diagnosed in 2013

Finally, the two Asian participants in this study expressed that they did not engage in sex after being diagnosed with lupus.

Gaps in knowledge around sexual and reproductive health

Most participants in this study demonstrated a clear lack of knowledge regarding how to effectively manage their lupus in relation to their reproductive and sexual health. This knowledge gap was evident through the questions they raised during the interviews. Many participants expressed a strong desire to understand more about the medications they are prescribed for lupus and their potential impacts on overall health, particularly in the context of reproductive health.

It is evident that there is a significant need for comprehensive and accessible information on lupus medications, their potential side effects, and how they may influence reproductive and sexual health. Empowering patients with this knowledge is crucial to enable them to make informed decisions about their health and well-being. In this example, they express their needs: "What does it do to your organs or what do you think it is possibly doing to anything inside, because I wasn't really worried about that at that time. So, it, you know, I was just like something new to try out, might want to try it out. But yeah, I wish I would have asked that question so they could have told me maybe a little bit more because the only thing they really told me was. You know, they didn't know."- Annie, 30 yrs old, diagnosed in 2009

Discussion

Little research has been conducted on patients' experiences and needs around sexual and reproductive health and this study fills several crucial gaps around the needs and experiences in this area for women living with lupus. While many participants were aware of the need to monitor their reproductive health, use contraception, and plan in order to have a healthy pregnancy, they lacked knowledge about the duration of remission required and the specific steps to achieve a successful pregnancy. Even those who expressed their desire to get pregnant and had stable lupus activity were often dissuaded by their healthcare providers due to concerns about their health conditions.

This research validates the concern that patients have about the existence of potential complications during pregnancy for patients with SLE. However, it remains uncertain whether these complications directly arise from SLE or other preexisting conditions. Participants reported having unplanned pregnancies and sought information about how lupus might affect their fetuses and subsequent children, but they received minimal to no feedback on these specific questions. The confusion about whom to consult for reproductive health questions was exacerbated by the need for multiple doctors to manage their SLE, leading to conflicting information and frustrations when concerns were passed between different physicians. This finding is contradictory to the guidelines presented in Teng (2018) highlighting the need for SLE patients to be managed by a multidisciplinary team of physicians in order to have a successful pregnancy. Further, the safety issues and recommendations by Nahal also outline that providers should have holistic discussions with women about pregnancy planning and provide ideal timing for conception in order to reduce flares in women with SLE.

All participants had conversations with their providers about the importance of contraception and pregnancy prevention due to their lupus diagnosis. This is also reflected in Nahal's 2018

safety issues and recommendations for successful pregnancy outcomes in systemic lupus erythematosus, where it is recommended that it is critical for those with SLE to have prepregnancy planning conversations and work with providers to have a safe and successful pregnancy. However, SLE patients expressed that their overall quality of life had been affected by their diagnosis, leading to changes in their reproductive health plans. The physical aspects of fatigue, skin rashes, and scars caused by the disease made it challenging to engage with friends, family, and partners on a daily basis. Many participants felt the need to prioritize their own well-being and were uncertain about their ability to care for another person, impacting their plans for starting a family. This is a unique finding and contribution from this study. Further research is needed to understand the impact of both lupus diagnosis and the changes in a lifetime of living with lupus on fertility.

Another unique finding is the impact of lupus on relationships and sexual functioning. Understanding why Asian participants with lupus refrained from sexual activity is crucial to provide appropriate support and care tailored to their specific needs. Cultural norms, beliefs, and perceptions related to lupus and reproductive health may play a significant role in shaping their decisions (Lim et al., 2020). Exploring these factors through more in-depth research can shed light on the complexities of managing lupus within different cultural contexts. This may be due to the stress that physicians place on pre-pregnancy counseling and the need to plan a healthy pregnancy (Do et al., 2019).

This study sheds light on the complexities and challenges faced by individuals with SLE when it comes to reproductive and sexual health decisions because of the lack of direct knowledge in this area for patient reference. The findings underscore the importance of addressing the unique needs and concerns of SLE patients regarding family planning and

pregnancy but also more broad and holistic concerns around sexual and relationship satisfaction. Healthcare providers are the first point of contact to provide comprehensive and accurate information to empower patients to make informed decisions about their reproductive health_(Do et al, 2014). In the context of other chronic conditions, such as cancer, there have been studies that highlight the importance of providing comprehensive and accurate information to empower patients in making decisions about their reproductive health. For example, a study published in the Journal of Clinical Oncology in 2017 examined the reproductive concerns and sexual functioning of female cancer survivors (van Dorp et al.,2018). The researchers found that cancer survivors faced similar challenges as individuals with SLE, such as the need for fertility preservation options, the impact of treatments on sexual health, and concerns about how their chronic condition may affect future pregnancies (van Dorp et al.,2018).

Similarly, in the context of diabetes, a study published by Deborah Young-Hyman and collogues (2016) explored the sexual health and satisfaction of individuals living with diabetes. The findings highlighted that diabetes could impact sexual functioning and satisfaction, and there is a need for open communication between patients and healthcare providers to address these issues. The study emphasized the importance of healthcare providers initiating discussions about sexual health during routine diabetes care visits, as well as providing resources and support to enhance patients' sexual well-being. These studies serve as examples of how healthcare providers can play a pivotal role in providing essential information and support to patients, guiding them in making informed decisions regarding their reproductive and sexual health, just as is needed for individuals with SLE. By taking a holistic approach and considering the broader impact of chronic conditions on patients' lives, healthcare providers can better meet the unique needs of their patients and promote overall well-being. This study underscores the need for healthcare

providers to address the sexual and reproductive health needs of patients with chronic conditions ensuring they receive appropriate counseling and support, an area of future work.

Furthermore, the emotional and psychological impacts of living with SLE should not be underestimated. The study highlights the need for a holistic approach to care which addresses not only the physical aspects of the disease but also the emotional well-being of patients. Support services and counseling may be beneficial for individuals struggling with the impact of SLE on their quality of life and their family planning choices. Surprisingly, there was no discussion about how their medications could affect their sexual health or how the disease itself might impact it, despite participants expressing that disease activity influenced their interactions with partners over time.

Further research is warranted to delve into the factors contributing to the decision-making processes of SLE patients regarding family planning. Understanding these factors better can inform the development of tailored interventions and support systems to help patients navigate these complex and sensitive issues. Overall, this study contributes significantly to the field of SLE research and underscores the importance of considering patients' perspectives when designing healthcare interventions and policies.

Limitations and Strengths

This study should be considered in light of a few limitations. Despite making efforts to include Hispanic patients in the study, we were unable to obtain interviews from any participants within this ethnic group. Investigating the experiences and perspectives of Hispanic patients in relation to reproductive and sexual health care is essential to ensure that healthcare interventions are culturally sensitive and inclusive. By understanding the barriers and challenges faced by

Hispanic women with lupus, healthcare providers can develop targeted strategies to address their specific needs and improve the overall quality of care for this population.

Conducting research in these areas can contribute valuable insights that may not only enhance the understanding of how lupus affects reproductive and sexual health but also inform the development of more comprehensive and culturally appropriate healthcare approaches.

Ultimately, bridging these knowledge gaps will lead to more equitable and effective care for all patients, irrespective of their cultural background or ethnicity. It is essential to prioritize such research endeavors to ensure that healthcare practices are inclusive, respectful, and responsive to the diverse needs of individuals living with lupus.

Strengths

This study stands as a pioneering effort, as it is the only one conducted in recent years that delves into the perspectives of lupus patients and their specific needs concerning sexual and reproductive health care. Furthermore, it represents a groundbreaking approach by addressing the effects of lupus on the intimate personal lives and relationships of the patients, shedding light on a previously unexplored area of research.

The study's uniqueness also lies in its exclusive focus on minority women, a population that has been historically underrepresented in research on lupus and reproductive health care. By centering on this specific demographic, the study not only amplifies the voices of an important group of lupus patients but also brings attention to the unique challenges and experiences they encounter when seeking reproductive health care.

Through this study, we have gained valuable insights into the dynamics between lupus patients and their physicians concerning reproductive health care. By focusing on the quality of relationships with healthcare providers, we can identify potential areas of improvement in

communication, education, and support to enhance the overall reproductive health care experience for these patients.

Given the significance and novelty of this study, it underscores the importance of further research in these areas. Expanding the body of knowledge on lupus patients' needs related to sexual and reproductive health care will not only enrich our understanding of the disease's impact but also guide the development of more patient-centered and inclusive healthcare practices.

Researchers, healthcare providers, and policymakers can build upon the findings of this study to develop tailored interventions and support systems that address the unique challenges faced by lupus patients, especially minority women, when navigating reproductive health care decisions. By acknowledging and addressing these specific needs, we can work towards closing the gap in healthcare disparities and improving the overall well-being and quality of life for all lupus patients.

Chapter 4: Public Health Implications

In recent years, there has been a growing recognition of the importance of including more minority women in lupus research, considering that the majority of lupus patients are from minority communities (Lim et al., 2020). Unfortunately, the focus has historically been on white women with lupus, overlooking the fact that African American women of childbearing age are the most affected (Lim et al., 2020). It is crucial that these women receive appropriate reproductive and sexual health care to meet their unique needs (Thaxton et al., 2017). However, due to the limited research in this area, patients often struggle to find clear answers and information for their reproductive health plans. To address this issue, there is a pressing need for

comprehensive communication about the medications used to manage SLE in childbearing-age patients and their potential impact on reproductive health.

Currently, patients lack adequate education about how SLE and its medications may affect their reproductive health, hindering their ability to ask the right questions and make informed decisions. This calls for an open dialogue between patients and their healthcare team, involving both rheumatologists and reproductive health physicians. Establishing a strong and trusting relationship with the healthcare team is essential for patients to feel comfortable discussing their reproductive health concerns and receiving accurate guidance (Nahal et al., 2018).

Considering that patients with lupus may continue to get pregnant, counseling should extend beyond just contraceptives. It should also provide information on the appropriate care in case of an unplanned pregnancy, ensuring that patients are well-prepared for all potential scenarios.

Additionally, more research is needed to understand the effects of SLE on patients' personal lives, particularly the issue of isolation experienced by these patients. The study's results indicate that an SLE diagnosis profoundly impacts patients' personal lives, potentially leading to increased isolation and fewer partnerships. Understanding these aspects can help healthcare providers offer better support and interventions to improve the overall quality of life for lupus patients.

Moreover, it is vital to conduct research focusing on the effects of SLE on different minority groups. Each minority group may have distinct cultural values that influence their experiences living with lupus. Tailoring healthcare approaches to account for these cultural differences can lead to more effective and patient-centered care.

Addressing the gaps in research concerning minority women with lupus is crucial to provide better reproductive and sexual health care to these individuals. Comprehensive communication, strong patient-provider relationships, and a deeper understanding of cultural influences are all necessary steps towards improving the well-being of minority women with SLE. By filling these knowledge gaps, healthcare providers can better support their patients in managing their reproductive health and overall health while living with lupus.

Conclusions

This study effectively addresses a crucial gap in knowledge concerning minority patients' experiences and needs around sexual and reproductive health. It highlights the pressing need for improved education and communication between patients and their physicians beyond contraception and pregnancy. Study participants revealed that they all sought reproductive healthcare, but their experiences varied depending on their relationships with different physicians. They encountered difficulties in accessing the reproductive health care they needed and had to advocate for themselves in these conversations. Surprisingly, there was no discussion about how their medications could affect their sexual health or how the disease itself might impact it, despite participants expressing that disease activity influenced their interactions with partners over time.

Furthermore, this study suggests potential differences among different ethnic groups based on cultural norms. However, further research is necessary to gain a more comprehensive understanding of this aspect. Although pregnancy with lupus is deemed feasible, patients face challenges in accessing the multidisciplinary care necessary during this time. It is highly recommended for patients to have a dedicated multidisciplinary team in place when they decide to conceive.

The findings of this study emphasize the critical role of effective communication between healthcare providers and patients, especially in the context of reproductive and sexual health care for individuals with SLE. It is evident that patients' experiences can vary significantly based on their relationships with their physicians, which underscores the importance of fostering trust and open communication in the doctor-patient relationship.

The lack of discussion about the potential impact of medications on sexual health is a significant oversight that needs to be addressed in medical practice. Patients with SLE should receive comprehensive information about how their treatments might affect their sexual health and overall quality of life. This can help them make informed decisions and seek appropriate support when needed.

Regarding the cultural differences observed among ethnic groups, it is essential to approach healthcare in a culturally sensitive manner. Understanding cultural norms and beliefs can lead to more personalized and effective care for patients from diverse backgrounds. It would be valuable to explore this aspect further to identify specific cultural factors that might influence reproductive health decision-making and care-seeking behaviors.

For patients with SLE who wish to become pregnant, the study's recommendation for a multidisciplinary care team is of utmost importance. The complexities of managing SLE during pregnancy require coordination among various healthcare specialists to ensure the best possible outcomes for both the mother and the baby. Implementing this approach in clinical practice can significantly improve the care and support provided to pregnant individuals with SLE.

References

- Andreoli, L., Bertsias, G. K., Agmon-Levin, N., Brown, S., Cervera, R., Costedoat-Chalumeau, N., Doria, A., Fischer-Betz, R., Forger, F., Moraes-Fontes, M. F., Khamashta, M., King, J., Lojacono, A., Marchiori, F., Meroni, P. L., Mosca, M., Motta, M., Ostensen, M., Pamfil, C., ... Tincani, A. (2017). EULAR recommendations for women's health and the management of family planning, assisted reproduction, pregnancy and menopause in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and/or antiphospholipid syndrome. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 76(3), 476–485. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209770
- 2. Angley, M., Drews-Botsch, C., Lewis, T. T., Badell, M., Lim, S. S., & Howards, P. P. (2022b). Adverse Perinatal Outcomes Before and After Diagnosis of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Among African American Women. *Arthritis Care & Research*, 74(6), 904–911. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.24848
- 3. Carandang, K., Mruk, V., Ardoin, S. P., Huynh, B., Clowse, M. E. B., Berlan, E. D., & Edens, C. (2020). Reproductive health needs of adolescent and young adult women with pediatric rheumatic diseases. *Pediatric Rheumatology*, *18*(1), 66. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12969-020-00460-7
- 4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018, October 17). *Lupus basics*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/lupus/basics/index.html
- 5. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022, July 5). *Systemic lupus erythematosus* (*SLE*). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/lupus/facts/detailed.html
- 6. Chae, D. H., Drenkard, C. M., Lewis, T. T., & Lim, S. S. (2015). Discrimination and Cumulative Disease Damage Among African American Women With Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *American Journal of Public Health*, *105*(10), 2099–2107. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2015.302727
- 7. Cleveland Clinic medical. (n.d.). *Discoid lupus erythematosus: What is it, causes, symptoms & treatment*. Cleveland Clinic. https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/diseases/21808-discoid-lupus#:~:text=Discoid%20lupus%20erythematosus%20(DLE)%20is,on%20their%20face%20or%20scalp
- 8. Coomarasamy, A., Dhillon-Smith, R. K., Papadopoulou, A., Al-Memar, M., Brewin, J., Abrahams, V. M., Maheshwari, A., Christiansen, O. B., Stephenson, M. D., Goddijn, M., Oladapo, O. T., Wijeyaratne, C. N., Bick, D., Shehata, H., Small, R., Bennett, P. R., Regan, L., Rai, R., Bourne, T., ... Quenby, S. (2021). Recurrent miscarriage: Evidence to accelerate action. *The Lancet*, 397(10285), 1675–1682. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00681-4

- 9. Cravioto MD, Jiménez-Santana L, Mayorga J, & Seuc AH. (2014). Side effects unrelated to disease activity and acceptability of highly effective contraceptive methods in women with systemic lupus erythematosus: A randomized, clinical trial. *Contraception*, 90(2), 147–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2014.04.001
- 10. Do SC & Druzin ML. (2019). Systemic lupus erythematosus in pregnancy: High risk, high reward. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol*, *31*(2), 120–126. https://doi.org/10.1097/GCO.000000000000528
- 11. Dhar, J. P., & Sokol, R. J. (2006). Lupus and Pregnancy: Complex Yet Manageable. *Clinical Medicine & Research*, 4(4), 310–321. https://doi.org/10.3121/cmr.4.4.310
- 12. Fanouriakis, A., Tziolos, N., Bertsias, G., & Boumpas, D. T. (2021). Update on the diagnosis and management of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 80(1), 14–25. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-218272
- 13. Hoge, C., Bowling, C. B., Lim, S. S., Drenkard, C., & Plantinga, L. C. (2020). Association of Poverty Income Ratio with Physical Functioning in a Cohort of Patients with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, 47(7), 983–990. https://doi.org/10.3899/jrheum.190991
- 14. Ikram, N., Eudy, A., & Clowse, M. E. B. (2021). Breastfeeding in women with rheumatic diseases. *Lupus Science & Medicine*, 8(1), e000491. https://doi.org/10.1136/lupus-2021-000491
- 15. Jordan, J., Thompson, N. J., Dunlop-Thomas, C., Lim, S. S., & Drenkard, C. (2019). Relationships among organ damage, social support, and depression in African American women with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus*, 28(2), 253–260. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961203318815573
- 16. Knight, J. H., Howards, P. P., Spencer, J. B., Tsagaris, K. C., & Lim, S. S. (2016). Characteristics related to early secondary amenorrhoea and pregnancy among women diagnosed with systemic lupus erythematosus: An analysis using the GOAL study. *Lupus Science & Medicine*, *3*(1), e000139. https://doi.org/10.1136/lupus-2015-000139
- 17. Kuhn, A., Bonsmann, G., Anders, H.-J., Herzer, P., Tenbrock, K., & Schneider, M. (2015). The Diagnosis and Treatment of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International*. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2015.0423
- 18. Lim, S. S., Kan, H., Pobiner, B. F., Bao, G., & Drenkard, C. (2019). Patient perceptions and preferences of biologic therapies in SLE. *Lupus Science & Medicine*, *6*(1), e000322. https://doi.org/10.1136/lupus-2019-000322
- 19. Liu Y, Zhang Y, Wei Y, & Yang H. (2021). Effect of hydroxychloroquine on preeclampsia in lupus pregnancies: A propensity score-matched analysis and meta-

- analysis. *Arch Gynecol Obstet*, 303(2), 435–441. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-020-05762-5
- 20. Maryam Mobini, Reza Ali Mohammadpour, Yasaman Salehi, & Fatemeh Niksolat. (2021). Contraceptive Prevalence and Consulting Service in Women with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Ethiopian Journal of Health Sciences*, 31(2). https://doi.org/10.4314/ejhs.v31i2.12
- 21. Moroni, G. & Claudio Ponticelli. (2018). Important considerations in pregnant patients with lupus nephritis. *Expert Review of Clinical Immunology*, *14*(6), 489–498. https://doi.org/10.1080/1744666X.2018.1476139
- 22. Nahal, S. K., Selmi, C., & Gershwin, M. E. (2018). Safety issues and recommendations for successful pregnancy outcome in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Journal of Autoimmunity*, 93, 16–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2018.07.016
- 23. Petri M. (2020). Pregnancy and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol*, 64, 24–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2019.09.002
- 24. Plantinga, L., Lim, S. S., Bowling, C. B., & Drenkard, C. (2016). Association of age with health-related quality of life in a cohort of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: The Georgians Organized Against Lupus study. *Lupus Science & Medicine*, *3*(1), e000161. https://doi.org/10.1136/lupus-2016-000161
- 25. Santos TDS, Ieque AL, de Carvalho HC, Sell AM, Lonardoni MVC, Demarchi IG, de Lima Neto QA, & Teixeira JJV. (2017). Antiphospholipid syndrome and recurrent miscarriage: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Reprod Immunol*, *123*, 78–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jri.2017.09.007
- 26. Smyth, A., Oliveira, G. H. M., Lahr, B. D., Bailey, K. R., Norby, S. M., & Garovic, V. D. (2010). A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Pregnancy Outcomes in Patients with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Lupus Nephritis. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, *5*(11), 2060–2068. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.00240110
- 27. Tavakolpour, S., & Rahimzadeh, G. (2016). New Insights into the Management of Patients with Autoimmune Diseases or Inflammatory Disorders During Pregnancy. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, 84(3), 146–149. https://doi.org/10.1111/sji.12453
- 28. Teng YKO, Bredewold EOW, Rabelink TJ, Huizinga TWJ, Eikenboom HCJ, Limper M, Fritsch-Stork RDE, Bloemenkamp KWM, and Sueters M. "An Evidence-Based Approach to Pre-Pregnancy Counselling for Patients with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus." *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 57, no. 10 (2018): 1707–20. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/kex374.
- 29. Thaxton L, Espey E. Family Planning American Style Redux: Unintended Pregnancy Improves, Barriers Remain. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2017 Mar;44(1):41-56. doi: 10.1016/j.ogc.2016.11.001. PMID: 28160892.

- 30. van Dorp W, Haupt R, Anderson RA, Mulder RL, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM, van Dulmen-den Broeder E, Su HI, Winther JF, Hudson MM, Levine JM, Wallace WH. Reproductive Function and Outcomes in Female Survivors of Childhood, Adolescent, and Young Adult Cancer: A Review. J Clin Oncol. 2018 Jul 20;36(21):2169-2180. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.76.3441. Epub 2018 Jun 6. Erratum in: J Clin Oncol. 2020 Mar 10;38(8):847. PMID: 29874135; PMCID: PMC7098836.
- 31. Watts RJ. Impact of chronic illness on sexual health. Issues Ment Health Nurs. 1979 Dec;2(2):67-83. doi: 10.3109/01612847909052570. PMID: 259584.
- 32. World Health Organization. (n.d.). *Sexual health*. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/teams/sexual-and-reproductive-health-and-research-(srh)/areas-of-work/sexual-health
- 33. Young-Hyman D, de Groot M, Hill-Briggs F, Gonzalez JS, Hood K, Peyrot M. Psychosocial Care for People With Diabetes: A Position Statement of the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2016 Dec;39(12):2126-2140. doi: 10.2337/dc16-2053. Erratum in: Diabetes Care. 2017 Feb;40(2):287. Erratum in: Diabetes Care. 2017 May;40(5):726. PMID: 27879358; PMCID: PMC5127231.

Appendixes

Appendix A: In-depth Interview Questions:

Interview Guide

First, to start, could you tell me a little about your home life and family?

1. Relationship status/ partner/children, household makeup, daily activities. [Don't spend more than 5 minutes]

Now, I'd like to think back to your lupus diagnosis. [10 minutes]

- 2. Can you tell me about the process to your diagnosis?
- a. How long did it take you to get your diagnosis (age/life stage, etc.)
- b. Who was the provider who diagnosed you?
- c. What was the impact of your symptoms [severity of disease] at the time of diagnosis?
- d. Was your reproduction, reproductive health or sexual health part of the conversation when you were being diagnosed?

i.Did you bring up any issues or concerns at your appointment?

People with lupus often take different medications to manage their condition.

- 3. Could you tell me about your current health management plan since being diagnosed with lupus? (medications/holistic care)
- a. Do any of your medications have impacts on pregnancy or reproduction?
- b. Do any of your medications have impacts on your sex life?
- 4. What are some of the questions you had or would have liked to get answered before starting your medications?

Thank you so much; Now, I'd like to move on to talking about your sexual and reproductive health, including your plans for pregnancy and your use of contraceptives.

- 5. Can you tell me about your reproductive plans?
- a. Probes: Do you already have children, [if no]do you have plans for children in the future]
- b. Did your diagnosis have an impact on your reproductive plans?

i.Direct Probe: Do you have any plans to delay or limit having children due to lupus?

Contraception is common and sometimes part of people's holistic care as well as a means to delay pregnancy.

- 6. What methods are you using to [limit] or [delay] a pregnancy [if any]?
- a. Can you tell me a little about the types of contraceptives, if any, you have used since your diagnosis?

We've discussed conversation, but now I'd like to continue talking about your overall sex life since your lupus diagnosis.

- 7. How much do you feel that having lupus affects your sex life?
- a. How does it change how you interact with your sexual partner(s)?
- b. Describe how your sex life changed since your diagnosis?
- c. Have your contraceptive choices affected your sex life?

Finally, we are hoping to understand how health providers have responded to or helped you navigate your sexual and reproductive health as a person living with lupus, specifically for contraceptive use and pregnancy.

- 8. Which providers, if any, do you discuss your reproductive health with?
- 9. What was the conversation [at diagnosis] with your lupus providers about contraceptives like?
- a. Who brought it up (you, them, both)
- b. How would you describe the decision-making process during this conversation?

i.PROBE: Shared? One-sided?

- c. Did you have concerns or questions about your reproductive or sexual health that you brought to providers?
- d. How did your provider react to those questions?
- 10. Have those contraceptive conversations changed over time?
- 11. Have providers discussed your contraceptive choices in relationship to your lupus diagnosis?
- 12. Do you feel providers have been supportive of helping you understand how lupus might affect your sexual and reproductive health?
- 13. Do you feel providers have been supportive in helping you navigate issues around contraception due to lupus?
- 14. Do you feel providers have been supportive in helping you to understand lupus' impact on pregnancy?
- 15. [ONLY FOR THOSE WHO HAVE BEEN PREGNANT] Do you feel providers have been supportive in helping you navigate issues around pregnancy due to lupus?
- a. How confident are you that providers know the appropriate care needed for a pregnant person living with lupus?
- 16. What are some areas that could be improved for newly diagnosed lupus patients that are seeking reproductive healthcare?

Appendix B: Code Book

Code:	Sub code:	Description:	Example:
Diagnosis		Participant describes the event of being diagnosed with lupus; this includes the symptomology or event that happened before the diagnosis or progression of the illness before diagnosis.	Jessica: "Pretty much, yeah, I lost, like I lost my appetite and then vomiting and then it was like, OK, I started feeling like I was having like, I guess, like pregnancy symptoms, so yeah, that's what made me go to the hospital first to get, you know, checked out but of course, when those results came back that I wasn't pregnant, it was like, OK, now they don't know what's wrong with me."
	Impacts	How the diagnosis of lupus impacted their day-to-day including reproductive health and mentally.	Corinne: I got pregnant and got sick and they didn't know what was going on. So, a few blood tests led them to want to do a biopsy. But the baby was in there, so I delivered very early, 25 weeks, and they got her out. And they did the biopsy, and it was lupus nephritis, stage five

Unanswered Questions	question able to	pants that have ons they have not been oget an answer for ing their medical care.	Tina: "But I'm so afraid because I keep hearing stories up. You know, if you keep pregnant on lupus, yeah it you could kill you or after you have the baby, you'll health start declining. You know, such and such died from having a baby and having lupus. You know? It's the more the stories rolled in. It was like really bad for me it put me in depression so yeah, I tried to just avoid it."
Contraceptives/ Sex life	medica use for any ch	pants mention what ations or methods they recontraceptives and anges they have seen resex lives.	Tina: "They always suggest that I use condoms I don't use birth control because they know I'm allergic to birth control, or use female condoms, and I don't know how to use that, so there's no question"

Other Diagnoses	Secondary diagnoses to lupus	Tina: "it gives me really bad ovarian cysts from each method that I've had."
Living w/ Lupus	Describes the overall condition of living with lupus; includes feelings and thoughts on the condition.	Jean: "Ohh, so my lupus is actually supposed to be in remission, but things have not been going well recently, so I'm in a very different state of my health right now, but I, since my transplant, my lupus has been in remission, I'm hoping to keep it that way. I'm not sure what this little, where that, I'm having is about but. It is, it is what it is."
Pregnancy	Participants who were pregnant, have children, or miscarried and conversations about pregnancy	Tina: "You know, if you keep pregnant on lupus, yeah it you could kill you or after you have the baby, you'll health start declining."
Relationships	Participants describe the different relationship they have in relation to their lupus diagnosis	Tina: "I have several Uh friends, if you want to call them. Again, I just don't reach out."

	Partnerships / Personal Life	Participants that have romantic partnerships or are looking for romantic connections in their lives, family and friendships.	Eliza: "Well, I'm married. I've been married, I don't do math, since 2014 to my wife, she's my high school sweetheart, and we've been together since 2006."
	Physicians	Participants describing the negative and positives of interactions with physicians	Eliza: "Like they were supportive in my health but not necessarily supportive in like what I wanted to do."
	Family	Those participants who had family members with lupus	Jessica: "like my great aunt had it and another family member that's not like my mom and dad side, but it was more so, like distant cousins had it."
Holistic Care		Anything that participants do outside of what their doctors prescribe for them, dietary changes, alternatives, lifestyle changes.	Margo: "I'm on a low sodium diet right now."

Career	Professional jobs that participants work and may be working on.	Corinne: "I have my own company I'm starting so I make like treats and stuff."
Medication Side Effects/Impacts	Participants discuss side effects or care plan, participants speak to their physicians about how the medicines may affect them	Sandy: "whenever I get my mycophenolate refilled I always get this this big scary pamphlet about what can happen to a fetus if I do get pregnant and every time I need to get it refilled, they always ask"
Improvements/ Changes	How patients would have improved their care after diagnosis, this is usually recommendations to providers or larger lupus support community.	Tina: "whether or not lupus affects their reproductive health, and that's something that I didn't uhm, get explain to me because there were just more so focusing on we get a understanding and try to get a control of the lupus and the flares and things of that nature"

Feelings and changes in social circles due to lupus Corinne: "I lost a lo my social life with justifamily members in general. Yeah, but also."	
---	--